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;hose Dil? An Abbreviated History of the Anglo-Iranian Oil Dispute,-'194; -53

In 1372, the then Shah of Persia, rlaser ad-Din, in return for much

needed cash, gave to Baron Paul Julius de Reuter. .'a concession to. exploit

all his country's minerals (except for gold, silver, and precious stones'),

all its forests and uncultivated land, and ail canals and irrigation

works, as ;sell as a monopoly to construct railways and tranilways. Although

the resulting uproar,-zsrac:.a11~ from neighboring Russiaraused this

sweeping concession to be cancelled, de Reuter, who was a German Jew with

British citizenship, persisted and by 1889 regained two parts of his

original concession--the operation of a bank and the working of Persia's

mines. Under the latter grant, de Reuter's men explored-for oil without

great success, and the concession expired in 1999, 'the year the Baron died.`

Persian oil right Shen passed to a British speculator, William Knox

D'Arcy, whose first fortune had been made in Australian gold mines: The

purchase price of the concession was about 50,000 pounds, and in 1903

the enterprise began to sell shares in "The First Exploitation Company."

Exploratory drilling proceeded, and by 1904, two producing wells were in.
a,+ A -

Shortly thereafter, Ainterest in oil was sharply stimulated by the efforts

of Admiral Sir John Fisher, First Lord of the Admiralty, to convert the

Royal Navy.from'burning coal to oil.. As a result, the Burmah Oil Company

sought to become involved in eersian oil and, joining with D "lrcy and Lord

Strathcona, formed the new Concessions Syndicate, L d, which endured un'ti'l

1907 when Burmah Oil bought D'Arcy out for 200„000 pounds cash and 900,000

pounds in shares. Burmah's first lusher carne in a 1,180 feet in May 
11908,-'.-near 

Plasjed Soleyman, and a-year.later, after some complicated financial
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dealings in London, the Fnglo-Persian Oil Company (APOC) was born,

incorporating the shares and rights of the earlier concessionaires.

The company chose Abadan as the site of its refinery and made local

Phystcai
-'arrangemcnts"~ for its security with both the Shiekh of Mohammerah and

the Bakhtiari tribal khans; the former was paid an annual rental and WZS

promised continued autonomy from Tehran, while the latter were to

receive 3°n of net oil revenues (to be paid out of the Persian -government's

share of 166.

'11hen Winston Churchill became First Lord of the Admiralty in 1911,

his persistent prodding changed the Royal Navy over to oil. To ensure

( 51 °p.)
asource of cheap oil, the British government became a majo ,shareholder

in the APOC in 1914, adding 2 million pounds in capitalization and signing

a 30-year contract for fuel oil at cut rates (Churchill wrote in 1923that

this contract had saved Britain no less thar(7.5 million- on its

wartime oil purchases).

Differences as to how profits were to be shared between the Persian

govorni-nent and the APOC began after* The company claimed that

Persia's share of the profits applied to the earnings of the three sub-

sidiaries actually operating in Persia (based on article 1 of the U'Arcy

concession, which defined its limits as "throughout the whole extent of

the country"). Persia claimed its-as entitled to a share of the profits from

all operations, including extracting, producing, refining, ;and marketing

its oil, wherever these operations might take place. Fhere were also

problems over British claims for wartime; damage to piperlines by Bakhti.aris"

incited by'Oer::ian and Turkish agents. The British attempt to.negotiate

settlement calling for new profit-sharing arrangements fell through in

1920, and the relationship tottered along under the old agreem.:nt until 1933.
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In 1921, Reza Khan, a colonel= the Iranian cossacks '--,`

in l!L_-Qum-f-ia s.. arl t" _.t ha. .nzip._tti~o 5e"V~sS~'Ca~".C~Ctrr.;tS

urs r.a.' r sh-rt~d „ P` ~sit"~r^vis-irk, seized power by deposing the

0adEY"A-,rent Of ;NIP
last (?ajar Shah. He visited Abadan after becoming Shah hinself in 1925,

and his account of the trip gave warnings of things to come. Fie noted

that of the 29,000 employees in the oilfields and refinery, 6,000 were

foreigners, and he expressed concern that so few Persians were being

trained for higher level posts. He also saw that the British staff

enjoyed an obviously higher standard of living than the others, and that

while the refinery area appeared prosperous, the surrounding districts

had not felt any positive impact from this major industry in their'area.

Finally, he was disturbed by a manager's 'description of cutting down pro-

duction- in order not.to upset world markets--but at a loss to Persia.

So, Persian dissatisfaction continued to build up until ,November 1932,

when the governm:nt notified the company that the D'Arcy concession, signed

under the Qajar regime, was annulled and a new concession would be granted

on the basis of equity and justice -?his new concession was not easily

arrived at--the British government referred the annulment to the League of

Nations, whose Council sent 'Jr. Eduard Benes of Czechoslovakia to reconcile

the two sides. Two legal points were thus established that were to affcct'-•.•

the later dispute in 1951: the right to annul the concession was recog-'

nized, and the League accepted the viewpoint of the British that such a

casee, rovid I:rx brought to the Council under Article-15 of the Covenant (which .

provid--d for a hearing on disputes between members that were likely to lead

to a rupture in diplomatic relations and for the solution of which no legal

recourse existed). The two parties finally worked out a new concession

r Persianagre:mtnt that was ratified by the Majlis (the lowtr

--&BGR ET-
Xo3
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parliaoent) and signed by Reza Shah on 23 May 1933; it extended the life

of the concession to 1993 and set up.a new royalty basis. By its terms

Persia would receive 4 shillings on every ton of oil sold in Persia or

exported, plus 20/ of the dividends overg671,250 distributed to

shareholders, with a minimum dividend ofS750,000 ;per year. To

avoid Persian taxation, the company agreed to pay a small additional

royalty-on tonnage., and it would continue to pay British taxes out of

gross profits.

It was the oil business as usual until the summer of 1941 when

Germany invaded the Soviet Onion. Because German influence in Iran (as

Persia was renamed in 10,35 by Reza Shah) had grown significantly and

because the country was the best route for Allied.suppiies going to the.,

beleaguered Soviets, the Allies determined to send in occupation forces.

T. Cj~, wSi-
Russian troops took over the five northern provinces,.British forces

want into the south, and the area around Tehran was neutralized. Following
T n~z•• Z~rvwl e, l1aTsed z-^,t :4.4.

three e ays of futile and desultory resistance, the~Shah abdicated in favor

-Ku s
of his young son, Mohammad Reza Pahlavi; ~--~g Iran wa~ an occupied country

until 1946. Abadan continued to produce petroleum products for the ,flies,

but the Soviets took advantage of the situation. and attempted to obtain an

oil concession in thy: north. In late 1944,. the Soviets ,ere advised by

Prctmier Sa'ed that the cabinet had ruled out the granting of further

concessions until after the war. When pressure was applied throuyh the

leftwing parties, Sa'ed resigned, at which point the Majlis passed a bill

introduced by Dr. Mohammad llosadeq forbiddi"ng any discussion of or signing

agreements for an oil concession with any foreign repr^santativas. The

bi 11 passed, d s r i to Co.nrnuni st opposi ti on, thereby blocking a Russian con-

cession, but in the coursa of tha cnbate the possibility o.: rev.,icin; the

sECiz~
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AIOC concession was seriously raised. Despite the law, Premier Qavam

in April 1946 signed an agreem-ent giving the U.S.S.R. an oil concession

in northern Iran. The `iajlis refused to ratify the concession, and in

the bill rejecting it, the legislators declared that it was forbidden to

grant any concession to export oil to foreigners; further, they instructed

the government to look into possible violation of the rights of the people

in connection with the southern oil concession hold by the AIOC.

With the wartime occupation over, the British oil managars began

to have lav6t tl"tliibstiS. {'lE "9'}o gi--h:rall strive-was Sc~t Itu Wi1n 6 p ay

raise, but this was only the start. In 1947 the Iranian Ministry of

Finance sent a delegation to London to discuss money due the Iranian

government, various employee grievances, reduction of foreign staff, ex-

pansion of local distribution facilities, and, the AIOC policy of concen-

trating refining activities outside Iran. To these, coinplaints, the

company, obviously feeling secure in the legality of its concession,

was relatively unresponsive.

The law of 22 October 1947 instructed th ̂  government to open dis-

cussions with the AIOC to secure the nation's rights to its oil resources.

These "discussions" started more than 5 years of bargaining and debating,

proposal and counterproposal, charge and countercharge, until they eventually

reached the Security Council of the United.Hations. the Iranians led off

in August 1943 with a 50-page: mchiorandum that listed 25 points that were.

to b:! discussed with the company in implementing the 1947 law. The main

items on this list included Sriti*sh taxation-of Iran's share of oil profits,

Iran's ultimate rights to AIOC installations outside the country at the end

of the concession (it had already been prQmi.sed 
/ 
those.,in Iran), reduction

in the number of foreign e:mployees,hthe 1-c-At~of the 'concession (by 1993)

CFA
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the Iranians felt, they would have little oil left in the ,ground), the

royalty basis, and tax and custom exemptions. tlegotiations frith company

representatives began the following month, continuing intermittently

thereafter. Shortly before the 16 January 1949 attempt by a Tudeh Party..

member to assassinate the Shah at Tehran University, Premier Sa'ed identi-

fied higher profits and more Iranian employees as his main goals in these

discussions; he. pointed out that Iran's oil royalties for 1947 were just

over.17 mi 11 i on whereas the AIOC had paid sona;~15 million'i 1 l i on in

British income taxes'.` Specifically, Iran wanted control of the cot-sipany's

operations as well as a 50-50 split of'the' net profits. On 5 May 1949,

AIOC chairman Sir William Fraser came to Tehran with a draft of the

"Supplemental Agree;aent," and this draft was basically the agreement signed

by the government and company on 17 July. T`.royal ty payment was increased

from 4 to 6 shillings per ton, and Iran was to get 20'/, of the distributed

profits {faith aminimum of~2.5 million and general reserve, terms
-4~c kVYeYfCM.e~ecdltYti aI- 

- 
%4 f, 1.r

well short of the 50-$0 sharing Iran wanted and which~tararnco in th;

process of agreeing to give Saudi Arabia. The agreement eras sent to the

:'lajlis on 19 July, and debate began on 23 July, lasting 4 days before the

15th Majlis formally 'rent out of existence. The oil agreement bill as well

as the new election bill were left over to the. next hajlis.

Elections for the 16th ?lajlis began in the fail of 1949 ' and were `{~'
(V~.~toni~ TV0K

finally completed in March 1950, with Or. Mosadeq and his ei ghVol lowers

leading in the balloting in Tehran. Ali Mansur became Pre;ni ur,' and in June
~a^a s~•b d y ..

the oil agreement was turned over to the 1`1-rnan special oil co:ami scion . that

included Mosadeq and five other members of the National Front. Six days

later, the Shah dismissed Mansur and appointed General Ali Razmara, f ortiner

Chief of Staff, as Premier. The commission reported back to the :1a jl i s is
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that the afire-_mcnt was not adequate to secure the rights of Iran

and that it was opposed to its ratification. The Minister-of Finance then

withdrew the agreement, announcing that negotiations for increased royalties

ti:ould be reopened with the AIOC.
1;51

In February; the AIOC offered Iran an agreement similar to Aramco's,

including the 50-50 profit sharing, but it was too late; the liational Front

was intent on nationalizing oil and it dominated the Majlis. The oil

corimission indicated it~too~favored that course, despite the report from

the experts appointed by Razrnara to study the feasiblity of nationalization.

the experts had pointed out Iran's lack of technical and financial expertise,

plus the facts that the concession could not legally 'be 'cancelled, that Iran

would be liable for up top00 million jin compensation, that haavy'

losses in foreign exchange and prestige would result, and that it would be

unxgise to antagonize Britain. On 7 March General Razrnara was shot-and

killed by a member of Fedayan Islam a rightist terrorist group, and

liosein Ala succeeded him as premier.

When the Majlis in mi d-March unanimously accepted the principle of

nationaliza--tion, the British Foreign Office notifi,:d the Premier that an

a`ct of nationalization would not legall y terminate the oil .company's

operations. Shortly Viereafter, strikes broke out in the south as a.resul.t

of the company's cutting a hardship allowance for Iranian workers i*n certain

area5plus other grievances. Martial .lawwas declared on 26 March, and-in

:arty April rioting began in Abadan that did not end until troops fired

into the crowd; 6 were killed and 30 hounded, and two Br'iti'sh oil workers

and a sailor wc're also killed.

As members of the National Front were presenting their draft of an

oil nationalization law to the special oil corimittee, Premier Gila resiGned.
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the Pla j l i s approved the law and at the sage tine voted to reco.nmen4 to

the Shah the appointment of Mosadeq as Premier; the Spn ate followed suit.

the Shah acceded, appointing Mosadeq on 29 PI)ril; trio days later tie signed

the nine-point law that in broad terms ordered the government takeover from

the AIOC. the company's response was to hold up the May monthly advance

payment ofo 2 million , and to 'ask that entire oil problem be submi tte-d

to ar5itrution, a request that Iran did not acknowledge. On 25 May the

Sritish government brought the matter before the International Court of

Justice, i 'cd the 161dh I nde p endent Pa rachute Bri-

gade 

i i~ sa.T~~~day it avs~ia'tC,ri .

Group to Cyprus; two Royal Navy cruisers and three:' frigates here

already in the Persian Gulf area. In a dditi on to the government' request,

the AIOC asked the ICJ to appoint an arbitrator, as provided in the 1933

concession agre;_,m•nt. The Iranian viers of these appeals to The Hague was

simple: Iran did not recognize the conpetence'of the court to deal with

the matter, which concerned Iran's internal affairs.

The United States bacame seriously involved in these discussions for

the first time in mid-flay 1951. A State Department statement of 13 May urged-

both sides to try to find an agreeable compromise solution; it noted that

the United States recognized the sovereign right of xran to control its

resources and industries but said that the technical knowledge, capital, ;

and trensport and marketing facilities ware all controlled by the AIOC.

It further stated that U.S. oil companies had indicated-that they would

not, in the face of 'unilateral Iranian action against the AIOC,'be willing

to undertake operations in Iran or provide technicians to work there.. The

note pleased neither Iran nor Britain; tahich was the object of U.'S. pressure

to accept the nationalization concept and work toward a compromise. .At

'resident Truman's urging, conveyed through Ambassador Grady in Tehran and
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by letters to Prime Minister Atlee and Premier 'iosadeq, the British

agreed to send a delegation and ttie Iranians.agreed to accept it.

-Talks got underway on 14 June, with the Iranians d(:111Lndin9 that

the AIOC hand over 75% of net oil revenuas since 20 ;larch and put the

b a'C",
other 25; into a bank, presumably to be eventually paid as compensation.

The sri•tish, 5 ;clays later, proposed that a new company be established

by the AIOC to operate the oi.l i ndus try _on br:hal f of Iran; the profit

split would be 50-50. No compromise between these two points of view

appeared possi ble, and on 21 June thy: tiri L1b0h 'want back to tlx: ICJ :: i t-h

a request for an injunction to halt the nationalization process until.

the court had ruled on the original U.K. application. Since Iran'had

already refused to recognize the court'.s jurisdiction, it was.not repre-

sented when the court issued an order to maintain the status quo as of

1 May 1951, with a Board of Supervision consisting of two Iranians, two

Britons, and one individual of another nationality empowered to run the

industry.

Iran ignored this order and prepared to cnave the managers of the

National Iranian Oil Company (11I0C) into Abadan, While the AIOC began to

slow down the output of the refinery and prepare for evacuation. Export

of nil stopped, and in the face of an antisat:otage law introduced in the

liajlis," the British staff resigned. Mosadeq wrote to President Truman on

27 June, complaining about the 3ritish attitude and the actions of the

British technicians, whom he wished to retain a7s contract cmployees-to

run the oil industry. Truman's reply on 9 July stressed the U.S. desire

for a peaceful settlement and urged Mosadeq,to go along with the ICJ

order; he also offered to send his foreign policy adviser, .%verell

Harriman, to Iran to help work out a solution. Mosadeq agrzod to accept

A-9

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



C01384460"
Approved for Release: 2014/02/26

AP"-;1.131X A

iia„rrioan as a n-diator, provided that any scheme he suggested would

be consistent with the nationalization law. Harriman's arrival in Tehran

on 15 July was hardly auspicious; in the course of a massive demonstration

against the United States, Tudeh moms fought with the National Front and

other elements; the police and then the army intervened, and 15 people

i4cre killed, over 200 wounded (the Minister of Interior, General Zahedi,

resigned as a result of the criticism he received over the handling of

the demonstration).

Sel-ki ng to rind sofic: com- mon ground for a greti -a .nt, iarr i mian persuaded

iios.adeq to enter into further discussions on how to implement the law,

contingent on the British'accepting the principle of nationalization; He

flaw to London to arrange for a new British mission to Iran but fouad.the

Labor cabinet insistent on an improvement in conditions in the oil a••ea,

including "an end to provocation of British staff." Compromise versions.

of the messages between the two governments were worked out by Harriman,

and Prime :linister Atlee and Foreign Secretary Morrison agreed to sand

Richard Stokes, Lord Privy Seal, as the head of a high-level delegation

to Tehran. Stokes' proposal, after preliminary meetings with the AIOC

staff in Abadan, was very similar to the earlier British suggestion that

an AIOC purchasing organization, with Iranian representation, handle the,

mark•:ting of the oil as a monopoly, with profits evenly divided. Iran,

of course, would not give up the idea of nationalization and said'it

would discuss only three points--the purchase of oil for British needs,

A10C claims for compensation, anti conditions required for continued em-

ployment of British technicians. At a private meeting of Harriman,

Mosadand Stokes, the latter suggested that a British general nanager

be appointed, to act under direction of the NIOC. The Iranians would not

SE -10

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



C 013 8 4 4 6 0 
_.... _ .........._._._.... _._. _..,,~..., ...........................
Approved for Release: 2014/02/26

,~M* DIX A'

accept this, proposing instead a board of management composed of *xperts

from countries "with no special political interest" in Iran. Stokes.

would not ev-n discuss this joint and returned to London on 23 August.

U.S. Ambassador Brady was replaced in Tehran on 11 September by Ambassador

Loy Henderson, and Mosadeq was advised by ;iarriman.from Washington that

his proposals.were not workable since they did not conform to the practical

and coiii-ercial-aspects•of the international oil industry. Iran told the

sinall British staff still in Abadan that it must leave the country within

.. ..~Gk fr om Zj September, and on i October the last of tiles A13C per'sorriie,

duly left Iran.'

In the meantime, the British government asked that the case be

considered by the U.N. Security Council as a potential threat to world'' ;.°

peace, and on 1 October the Council agreed to put the question of int-ar-

vention on its ag`nda. Mosadeq flew, to New York to present Iren"s case.

The Security Council listened to botti sides, debated the British resolution

from 15 to 19 October, and finally decided to adjourn the qu•:stion.until

after the ICJ had ruled on its own jurisdiction. In the British general

elections shortly thereafter, the Conservatives were returned to powar,,

with Vinston Churchill as Prime Minister and Anthony :den as Foreign

Sacretary; in a speech in Co.nmons, Eden declared there were three elements

that would be involved in a satisfactory solution to the problem--first,,

the Iranian economy depended on e,`ficient operation of the oil industry;

second, the benefits must be shared between Iran and the developers-of -the

Pil resources; anti finally, fair compensation j,,ust be paid for the act of

nationalization.

The ICJ r:ret on 9 June 1952, and the legal arguments eventually were

reduced to the interpretation of the. Iranian declaration of 2 October 1930

A-11
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r,rc~,nizing the Jurisdiction of the ?crmanent Court of International.

Justice (predecessor to the ICJ) in disputes "arising after the ratification

of the present declaration with regard to situations or fact relating

directly or indirectly to the application of treaties or convantions

subs-que-nt to the' ratification of this declaration." Tile legal points

a t i s sue :•;c re %,he ther the di spu to rcl a ted to a trca ty or conven ti on and,

if so, :vas it a treaty or convention covered by the declaration? The

court finally ruled that the word "subsequent" raferred to "treaties" and

not "situations" and t;iat since the oil concession was not a treaty, it

did not havd jurisdiction. The Sritish thus lost their 1CJ.'case and with

it their chin ce to have the Security Council pass on their resolution.

The matter nonetheless remained at an impasse. .While the nations- 4

involved waited nearly 3 nonths for the !CJ ruling, other compromise

solutions were sought. In November 1951, officials of the International

Lank for Reconstruction and Development (13111)) proposed that the bank

finance, as trustee, the production and refining of Iran's oil and then

sell it to the AIGC at current Persian Gulf oil prices, Iran to receive

payment at th--so prices, less an agreed discount WM ch would go to the

AIDC. The Sritish were willing to go along with this if AICC technicians

would be employed, but Iran would not agree to either the technicians or

the discount. The I3RD tried again, proposing a neutral board of nanaye-

.,nent responsible to the bank which would arrange'a bulk export contract

for the sale of oil through established distribution channel.s8 the profits

;•rould be dividod three ways--ons share to Iran, on° to tha ;bulk purchaser,

and one to be'hcld in" reserve by the- bank. . Now!:ve'r, on the qu_stion:ot-:-_

non-Iranian inanarlemcnt, the use of British technicians, and the selling

price of the oil, the negotiations ulti.nately broke down. The ISRD

Ili
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mission . roturridd to Ne4o York on 23 11orch 1952. At about the s aine tine,

President Truman notified Alosadeq that the United States would not give

Iran a loan of $120 million at a tune wh•n•the country had an, opportunity

to get "adequate revenue" from its oil resources; he thus none too subtly

pressed Mosadcq to settle tine oil dispute.

Relations betwean the Iranian and 3ritish governments deteriorated

steadily. Iran att:.-apt=d to sill the oil stored in the tanks at Abadan

to Italian and Japanese firms, but A10C action in the courts plus the

cooperation of.the international oil industry with the British 'ialited

the amounts of oil that could be delivered. In January 1952, tiosadeq

had ordered all British consulates closed; he followed that by closing all

foreign i of ormati on ind cultural canters in Iran. lie made some a ttempt

to reach agreement with the British on compensation, but hi s' proposals

includad large offsetting amounts for unpaid royalties -and other payments

stopped by the cessation of oil production in 1951. Than the British in .

October 1952 described his final proposals as."unreasonab.le and unacceptable,"

Mcsadcq broke off diplomatic relations with the United 'Kingdom*

The pre:--iier in the meantime had scored internal political victories

of his own. Reelected by tha new Hajlis 'in' July 1952., he askbd for, six

months of ernergancy powers to rule by decree in order to deal with the

critical economic situation. .!-When the Shah refused, Mosadcq resigned,

and gavam was appointed in his place; *the result was four days of .ri.oti.ng

4.f
by both Tudah and the t.sti oval Front. Qava m resigned' 'and on' 23 July

rlosadeq again became _prcmi er; 'hi s pol i ti cal ~al 1 y and one of Tahrahl s best

known religious figures, the mullah iiyitollah 4sti.:rii, i s n6amd Speaker

of the Flajlis, which then voted Mosadeq decree powers for-one year. The

Scnate and the Shah carscurred, and the stage was set for the anti-Shah

t++-_ 13
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political muncuvering of early 1953, during which Mosadrq p,:r!ni tted the

Tudeh Party .end its front groups considerable frcadora, pz!rhaps with the

idea of prt-ssuring the United States to come to Iran's raid. Implied

threats to turn to the Coei!nunists were contained in a ;,os,adaq 1.!tter of-'

23 "lay 19753 to President Eisenhower requesting a large loan, and the

kisenhower reply, as a matter of policy, was cold in,its rejection-of

this threat and its accompanying bid for help. Eiscnho.rer's letter

concluded:
I fully understand that the Governrrr_nt of Iran must determine

for itself which foreign doin:,-stic nolici,s are likely to ba most
advantageous to Iran and the Iranian people. In what I have :written..
I an not trying to advise the Iranian Govcrnnent on its best interests.
I an ;ncr--ly trying to explain why, in the circumstances, the Governm-nt
of the United States is not presently in a position to .extzndmore aid
to Iran or to purchase Iranian oil.

In case Iran should so desire, the United States 3overnment
hopes to be able to continue to extend technical assistance and milit'ary

aid on a basis caaparable to that given during the past year.
I note the concern reflected in your latter at the present dangerous
situation in Iran -:nd sincerely hope that before it is too late the
Govern:knt of I ran will take such steps as are in its power to ;.prevent
a further Ucterioration of that situation.

Fol lowing tine .'august 19$3 coup that overthrew 'Josadaq, the oil

dispute was settlad along the lines that had been proposed to Mosadwq- .

the oil industry was nationalized, but its operations were directed by a

group of foreign oil comp.inias. The dctai 1 s of this .:arrangem;nt were

worked out by a series of conferences, but Herbert Hoover Jr., as special

oii adviser to the Secretary of State had an i!,portant role in convincing

the Iranians of the wisdom of dealing with a "consortium." Between Hoover's

initial visit to Tehran in October 19,3 and the announcantient of a new

agreement in ^dgust 1954, Britain and Iran resumed diplo!,i4tic_re.lations.

!Jnd:r the terms of the agreem-nt, the National Iranian Cil Company dele-

gated basic operations in 100,000 square miIcs of southtiwastern Iran to an

international consortium known as Iranian Oil Participants, Ltd., until

SCE -.A6CV(ed m ar OF ~E
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1979, with an option of extension to 1994. British Petroleu.n, the.

new name of the AIOC, owned 40%, Zoyal Dutch-Shell 110'a, Compagnie

Francai se des P .trot es 6A, and U. S. oil co:-iipani css l+0yo (7'/ each to Standard

oil Company of stew Jersey, Standard oil Company of California, Socony

:lobil Oil Company, The Taxas Company, and Gulf oil Corporation, and 5%

to Iricon Agz:hcy, Ltd., comprised of nine small U.S. oil companies).

Since 1554 the HloC has carried out a number of operations of its own;

and, after the passage of.a new oil law in 1957, has allotted Italian,

U.S., and Canadian companies to explore for oil and conduct opCt'dtiores

outside the consortium's territory. The consortium has produced 9012 of

Iran's oil, however, and the rate of production has been the highest in the

world, increasing at an' annual rate of almost 141% in the 19601.s and ~.'

reaching 1.7 million barrels in 1971, whichwas MI. of world output and

second largest production in the Middle East. Price increases levied by

Iran and other Persian Gulf rnernbers of the Organization of Petrol-cum

Exporting Companies in 1971 and 1972 resulted in an estimated X14 billion

for those years, and the Middle 'East of 1 cri si s of late 1973 raised prices

even higher. Iran is currently very concerned about its estimated reserves,

which at current rates of extraction may barely last until- 1994. oil-

accounts for 237o of Iran's MIP, including sorne 85°4, of its foreiyn exchange
,or

earnings and fT1, of its budgetary revenues.
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MOHN-ViAD MOSADEQ; I

APPENUIy. 0

The bare bones of the life of the: man who was Preini er of Iran from

23 Apri f 1951 to 19 August .1 
aV~ 

~ ~je:
953 and who was the, target of TPAJ;+X

HZ was born about

1311 (1973 or 1379 are probably snore accurate dates, but. loll was a lways
p~ ~Xi m wig

given as his official birth year because of the restrictions on the`a`ge

of Majlis deputies) in Tahran, his moth4fcing a.mzmber of the ruling

Qajar d y nasty anul hi s fdLher the iii i'iister of F iii ar~ce f or so ire jv Ycar s.

of Fars Province in 1921, but his criticism of Reza Shah led to arrest

His fa,ri 1 y background was thus the elite, wealthy, 1 ando:•ni ng class.

His secondary education , --' coinplete, Mosbdeq was sent to. Khorasan

as the Shah's financial agent while barely out of his i,iiddlc t--cns.' `

In 1906, forced into exile because of his role in the Constitutional

Revolution that year, lie went to Europe to study lair at Paris, Liege,

an:; Mzuchatel, earning his LL.D. from the last institution in 1914.

R-aturning to Iran, he was elected to the Majlis in 1915, serving on its

financial com:nittee. As Under Secretary of Finance in 1917, he resigned

after only a few months in office because he was prevented from carrying

out reforms in the notoriously padded payroll system. lie became governor

in 1930 and exile to the villages. He was again arrested in 1941 but was

rel eased in the general pol•i tical arnnesty after Reza Shah's abdication.

Mosadcq was again elected to the Maj1is in 1944, where in .1947 he organized

the tlational Front, a small, tightly knit, and highly influzntial .group.

As Q membar of the oil commission, he gained in :influence not only, in the

iia jl i s but among the people, and his April 1951 appoint-nont as P rc.nier

was at the Majlis' request. Fron then until his removal from office in

august 1953, he concantrated'his energies on expropriating the 3riti•sh-owned

. 
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oil industry in defiance of cstcrn attc,npts to negotiate a scttla.n2nt

that stopped short of compl^te nationalization. Sentenced to three

years in prison-in a post-coup trial, he was eventually pardoned by the

Shah in 'August 1956, but he was forced to remain in his village. of

Ah.nadabad under virtual house arrest for the 11 years until his death

in harch 1;67: He had suffered from cancer of the jaw and finally

succumbed to internal bleeding after.two operations in Tehran.
often bia6r.r'e

The above facts ido little to explain his behavior as a

poiitici.an but

m pst of his actions, even his most emotional and

apparently irrational ones,'were probably wall calculated. The popular

world imzge of him as an enfeebled old mian, given to hysterical weeping .

and fainting spells, svrved'his own purposes and gave him trem_ndous

levt:raSe among his people. He used the accepted belief that he. alas

ill and weak to avoid things or people he did not want to face, and

his apparent physical debility added to the drama of.his personality,

tVeA
which in public speeches was capable of moving his opponents.

Nosadeq's power rose from his consummate ability to appeal to

national aspirations and emotions. By attempting to deal with a heated

political problem in logical, rational terms based on economic, facts,

the Dritish %,r.-.re unable to achieve anything in the oil dispute but do

unify the people of Iran. Reza Shah had held power for 20 years by

a ,pialb to latent Iranian nationalism; Mosadeq used- this aW~nk.tned nationalism

.arid the desire for independence to keep himself in' po-war and' to defy

Britain. His speeches and programs appealed to social discontent,

xeno,ihobia, religious fanaticism, and national pride in past glories.

His enormous Samble on the oil issue, based on his bcli`f that Britain

B-2
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Jnd the United States would not let. Iran*go Corn:nunist, teas part vanity,

part Islamic fatalism. tic utilized foremost the.technicxic of opposition--

his -nine-man National Front opposed every government in liowzr, whether

under Sa'cd, Mansur, P•azmara, or Ala--end then, once Premier, his single

plank was opposition to the British over the oil question.

Mosadeq was antagonistic to the Shah for many reasons: his mother

was a Qajar, whose family was overthrown by the Shah's fathar, the same

man that had exiled and then imprisoned him; in addition, he had long

believed in constitutional reform to reduce the paver of the monarchy.

tic:: opposed the army because it had brought Rcza. Shah to power 'and was

the main source of support for 14oharrmau Reza Shah; by retiring senior

officers and putting in his own Chief'of Staff, the young, French-trained

:Brig,,cn. Taqi Riahi, he had obtained a degree of controlover the army.

But, by so doing, he sc:t the stage for the officer corps to turn a-nainst

him. His own extr`jac national i sM, fantasies of 'omnipotence-, and lack
j

of cnns;i•!.icc--in manipulating Tudeh, at' the risk of it getting out of

control as it did in the streets of Tehran on 13 August, were the

seeds of his own eventual downfall. But he was a most unusual Haan,

one whose character caught the world's fancy, even as he drove his coontry-

rnnn toward disaster. At any time in 19$1 or 19$2 he could have had the.

same comprorni se through which his successors gained a nu ti on.:l i zed oil

industry efficiently run by foreign experts to give Iran the reve nue

that financed the Shah's White Revolution. lie chose to gamble on total

victory over Dritain, the United States, and the innrnational oil

industry--and he lost.

v-3
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MAJ. GEN. FAZLQLLAK ZAHEDI

Born in 1897 in Hamadan, Zahedi graduated from the Military School

in Tehran and served during the years of World War I and the postwar

period under Reza Khan, then a colonel in'the Cossack Brigade: As as

combat officer, he was decorated for actipn against assorted bandits

and insurgents, including rebellious Kurds, Lurs, and Turkomans. He

had become a division commander by 1942, after service as head of 'the

Gendarmerie and the Tehran Police,, but he was arrested by the British

that year for pro-German activity (his name was found in the papers of

Franz Mayer, a. principal Nazi agent in Tehran$ as an officer who would '

protect German agents) and deported to Palestine, where he was held

until 1945. Despite his arrest and subsequent three years in a -detention -

camp, he did not become fanatical ly.anti-British as did many xenophobic'

Iranians. Returning to Tehran after the war in 1945, lie was given
v

corranand of the Fars Division and promoted to major general. In 1948,

as Inspector General of the army, he was.severely injured in a tank

accident, losing four ribs, and after 7 months of medical treatment in•

Germany, some of it by U.S. Army doctors, he was retired in May 1949.

The Shah made him his honorary adjutant, and in November 1949 appointed

him Director General of the Tehran Police. In April 1951 Zahedi became

Minister of Interior in the. Ala cabinet and was retained in that post

by Mosadeq when he became Premier. He resigned in August 1951, following

There was a Cossack Brigade in the Persian Army::solely because Nasr-
ed--Din Shah visited Russia ' in 1878 and was provided with a Cossack
escort by the Czar., The Shah was so impressed by the Cossacks that he
asked the Czar to send him Russian officers to organize such a unit in
his own army. The Brigade retained Russian senior officers and noncoms
until 1920, and as long as it was in existence, it was the best trained
and most professional unit in the army
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the anti-U.S. riots in Tehran on 15 July in which the mob got out of

hand and the army had to be called in to fire on them, with the result

that many died and hundreds were wounded, on both sides,. He was a prime

suspect of the I4osadeq government as a potential coup leader and was

briefly arrested in February 1953•

ARDESHIR ZAHEDI

Born in December 1927, General Zahedi's son, Ardeshir, was educated

at the American Universitu in Bei-tut and et Utah State tins .ercity where

he earned a BS degree in 1950- Because of his training and language

ability, he served with the Rural Improvement Commission which was*

administering U.S.'technical assistance until he was forced to resign

in 1952 by Mosadeq. During the.planning and operational phases of

the coup, he acted as the communications channel to his father and

performed very well under difficult circumstances. He was married

for a time to the Shah's daughter by Queen Fawzia and has never

remarried singe his div once. He has CStained the Shah's-fa wr and,

in fact, introduced the Shah to Farah in May 1959, the girl who later

became Queen and mother of the Shah's sons. Ardeshir was the Iranian

Ambassador to the United States in 1960-62 and returned again in April .
.or

1973 to the past In the interim, he was Ambassador to the United

Kingdom, 1962-67, and Minister of Foreign Affairs, 1967-71•

MAJ. G&I. NADR BATMANGEL.ICH

General Batmangelich (also spelled 6atmangilich :ot' Batmangeli j) was'

born in Tehran about 1905 and educated in Germany, the -Iranian Military

School, and the German Staff College. He fought in the Luristan and

Fars tribal campaigns and was interned by the Allies from August 1943
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to June 1945. He visited the United States on a purchasing mission in

1950 and was put on the retired list in 1952 by +`iosadeq. Named Chief

of Staff of the army immediately after the. 1953 coup, 'he retained

that post despite friction with Premier Zahedi until December 1955

when he was made Ambassador to Pakistan to ease him out of the army

command. Clashes with General Hedayet, Chief of the new Supreme Staff,

were the probablq cause of his reassignment. He then became Ambassador

to Iraq in January 1957, was Minister of interior in 1958-59, and became

Adjutant to the 'Sh all i n 1957•

After serving as Governor

of Khorasan, 1965-68, he retired to private life. He had ser%ed as

Permanent Iranian Delegate to the CENTO Military Committee before

retiring from the army 1965.

Batmangelich ne%er lied down his behavior on the night of 15

August, details of which were known only to few insiders in the Zahedi

coup group. He failed to take his objecti%e, the'Staff Headquarters,

and breaking down, he either turned himself in or was arrested by troops

loyal to Mosadeq. There was reason to believe he talked breely to

interrogators, providing them with a list of other officers in%wlzed in.,

the coup.

B-6
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When Mohammad Reza became Shah in 1941 at the age of 22 following

his father's abdication, Iran was occupied by foreign troops--Soviet..

British, and American--and its army was demoralized. He had no solid

power base and no political machine, and as a result he spent the first

ib years of his reign in conflict with the traditional political power

structure bent on regaining the influence it had.-lost to Reza Shah. The

military coup that ousted Mosadeq-in August 1953 was thus a major mile-

stone i n thIc Shah' p V l l t 1 ca i i i fa-.

Mohammad Reza was born on 26 October 1919; he studied 6 years as a

cadet'at the'Military School of Tehran and then went to Switzerland in

1931 for his secondary education. Returning in 036, he attended the

Iranian Military College, frcxn which he graduated 2 years later as a

second lieutenant. His first marriage, in 1939,-was to Princess Fawzia

of Egypt, sister of King Farug, and a daughter, Shanaz,was the only child

of this marriage. Divorcing Fawzia, he married Sorya Esfandiari, a half-

German, half-Bakhtiari beauty to whom he was very devoted, but the marriage

was childless and the throne needed an heir. After the* inevitable divorce,

he married Farah Diba in 1959, and Crown Prince Reza was born in 1960',

followed by two daughters and Prince Ali Reza, securing the succession

of the Pahlavi line.

Although various sources `I,criticized. the young Shah as suspicious

and indecisive to the point of permanent. instabiiity,.others saw his

strengths. An OSS report in 1943 said:

Mohammad Shah is a man of much stronger purpose than is
generally realized. He stands almost alone, distrusts most.
advisers, is honest in his efforts to seduce a democratic form
of government for Iran. He is not, easily i nfl:uenced and cannot

CFrR 1~'=17'
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be shaken. Installed as a figurehead during the 1941 crisis,
he may yet surprise the factions in his country and the outside
powers. He thinks along Western lines, and he is inalienably
attached to his,Iranian army. The military budget is half the
national expenditure just n6w. Yet, of course, the.army is
almost his only backing within Iran.

In 1951, also on the positive side, the U.S. Embassy in Tehran

noted:
It is important to observe that the Shah, in ten years of.
political wavering, has ever turned-against the intellectual
interests, sports, and h4bies which he learned from European
sources. His mind remains alert and his principles, although
often betryyed, retain great similarity to Christian ethics
and philosgoly. The tragedy in the conflict'of this healthy .
i ntellect against the vicious Persian scene carries some
triumph since the Shah, so far, has not become corrupted.

the Shah took the successful coup of 19$3 as a popular mandate to

seize control of his country from the political factions and the ambitious

generals; he has never since allowed them to.threaten his position or

his program. His hasty flight to Baghdad and Rome was either forSiven

or forgotten in the triumph of the moment, and although General Zahedi

was often angered by the Shah s vacillation and lack of decisiveness,

those very characteristics enabled him to frustrate the volatile Zahedi

and eventually bring about his resignation and voluntary exile. Given

confidence by the popular support he saw during the coup, he pressed

ahead to consolidate his power, carefully controlling political activity,

which he has said can be permitted to function freely only after economic

and social development have taught the.people to act responsibly. His--.,

reforms launched in 1962 as the "White Revolution'' have accomplished much;

without the power and prestige of-the throne coupled with the Shah's

authoritarianism and determination, the reforms and development probably-

could not have taken place.

The rapid escalation of oil prices in 1573-74-has enhanced the Shahs

prestige as sp,6kesman for the more extreme oil-producing countries, and he

-'3 ET
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has been quick to resent criticism of the view that oil is the main

resource of those countries, a resource that cannot be'replaced and

that must be conserved, if only by the pressure of cost. The situation

has clearly made the Shah a man whom the world listens to, and he

has made the most of it.
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THE LEGEND: HOW THE PRESS VIEWED TPAJAX

The world of journalism--ever on the alert for the

mote in somebody else's eye--found long ago that the Centraf•

Intelligence Agency made great copy. Proceeding on the

theory that•their readers will believe anything dealing

with "spies"agents," and "the secret world of espionage,"

A

comment, since•the distortions and guesses will be obvious-

to those who have read this history.

Andrew Tully, for example, in CIA--The Inside Story

devotes Chapter 7, "King-Making in Iran"to a version of

TPAJAX most-notable for the purple of its flamboyant prose;

Some significant passages are:

a number of writers have told what they insist is the

inside story of the CIA involvement in !ran in 1953.

sampling of these is included here, without extensive

It was in 1953, of course,that the CIA
stage-managed the overthrow of Premier
Mohammed Mossadegh, that celebrated com-
pulsive weeper, who had seized Britain's
monopolistic oil company and was threaten-
ing to do business with the Kremlin. At
the time CIA's coup was hailed as.a"blow
for democracy, which it was. But after

'disposing of Mossadegh, CIA and the State
Department reverted once again toa weak-
ness that so often has been disastrous.
In the setting up of the new .regime, in.'-`
which CIA took a major part, no-consideration
was given as to whether `the new men had any

1

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



ICO138446O
Approved for Release: 2014/02/26

intention of attempting to relieve the
misery of the Iranian people. It was
enough for the United States that they
were anti-Communist.

When Mossadegh announced the expropria-
tion of Anglo-Iranian Oil and nationalization
of Iran's oil fields, the international
uproar was thunderous. Mossadegh could not
do that, and the Western bankers would
prove it to him. Iranian oil was virtually
boycotted. Mossadegh promptly tried to
swing some deals with smaller, independent
companies to work the Iranian fields, but
the State Department gave.these companies
little encouragement - which is to say it
told them "hands off." Meanwhile, Iran
was losing its oil revenues and going broke.
Even American financial aid was not-enough
although the State Department, with under-
standable 'reluctance, donated $1,600,000
for a technical rural improvement program
in 1951 and followed that with a foreign
aid grant of $23,000,000'in 1952. Most
of the latter was used to make up .Iran's
foreign exchange shortages, but Iran remained
financially unstable.

Meanwhile, CIA learned that Mossadegh
was carrying on a clandestine flirtation
with Iran's furtive Communist party, the
Tudeh. Soviet intelligence agents flocked
into the ancient capital of Teheran and
the traffic jam between them and Allen
Dulles' energetic young men was almost
ludicrous. Almost daily, emissaries from
the Soviet danced attendance on'Mossadegh as
he lolled recumbent on his couch,-alternately
dozing and weeping. Inevitably, the old
dictator put it squarely up to President
Eisenhower. In a letter received by the .
President on May 28, 1953, Mossadegh over
played his hand - he attempted to blackmail
the United States by warning that unless
Iran got more American financial aid he
would be forced to seek help elsewhere.

C-2.
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Elsewhere was the Soviet Union, with which
Mossadegh suggested he would conclude both
an economic agreement and a.mutual defense
pact.

Since Iran otherwise was broke, that
meant Mossadegh would have to pledge the
rich Iranian oil fields and the refinery at
Abadan, the world's largest, in return for
financial assistance from the Soviet. The
danger to the West was clear. With Iran's
oil assets in its pockets, the Russians
would have little trouble eventually
a6hieving a prime object of Russian foreaan
policy since the days of the Czars - access
to a warm water outlet on the Persian Gulf,
the free world's life line to the Far East'.
But even ,if Russia were to get just Iran's
oil, the Western world would-be weakened
throughout the Middle East and Soviet prestige
would soar. It.was clear, too, of course,
that Anglo-Iranian Oil had a stake of billions
of dollars, and when private enterprise 

* 
of

that magnitude is involved State Departments
and Foreign Offices are apt to react most
sensitively.

The time had come for the United'States
to embark on an international gamble. CIA
reports were that Mossadegh, although popular _
with the masses,•had never been able to under-
mine the young Shah with his people.' If
something were to happen whereby the Shah
was able to take over more firmly the reins
of government, there was a good chance
Mossadegh could be unseated. In any.event,
the Shah had a better than even chance of
winning any popularity contest with Mossadegh.

So for a month the White House stalled
Mossadegh, avoiding a direct reply in a welter
of polite diplomatic notes seeking further
discussions, Then President.Eisenhower favored
Mossadegh.with a blunt reply: "No." Everybody
agreed it'was &'calculated risk, a. gamble
that Mossadegh could be dealt within such
a fashion that he would be powerless to carry
out his threat. The CIA forthwith set the
wheels in motion for dealing with this tough
old man.

8 Ft @ R2E

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



Approved for Release: 2014/02/26 t'

First, on August 10, Allen Dulles flew
to Europe to join his wife for a "holiday"
in the Swiss Alps. Although the political
situation in Teheran was becoming more
ominous - Mossadegh was conferring daily
with a Russian economic mission --.United
States Ambassador Loy Henderson decided he'
would like a vacation to Switzerland, too.
Almost simultaneously,.the Shah's sister,
the pretty and tough-minded Princess Ashraf,
marched into the royal palace and gave her
brother the rough side of her tongue for his
hesitancy in facing up to Mossadegh. Then
she, too, flew off to Switzerlan.i3.

Certainly, the Russian espionage network
must have surmised that something was
cooking-as Dulles,-Hendersoin and Princess
Ashraf turned up at the same Swiss resort.
Their suspicions were strengthened. when an
old Middle Eastern hand named Brigadier
General H. Norman Schwartzkopf suddenly
was discovered in the midst of a leisurely
flying vacation across the Middle East.
He had been to Pakistan, Syria and Lebanon
and, while the Russians fumed, he ultimately
turned up in Iran.

The Reds had a right to be fearful,.for
Schwartzkopf had long been an anathema to
the Kremlin. Americans remember him most
vividly as the man who ran the Lindbergh
kidnapping investigation in 1932, when he
was head of the New Jersey State Police.
But the world of international politics
knew him better as the man who, from 1942
to 194,8, had been in charge of reorganizing
the Shah's national police force.. -In this
job, Schwartzkopf spent little time tracking
down ordinary criminals; he.was kept busy
protecting the government against its
enemies, a job that required the setting
up of an intelligence system to keep watch
on various political cliques.which might
seek.the Shah's overthrow. ::.
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In the course of these intriguing duties,
Schwartzkopf had become a close friend and
adviser to the Shah and, more important, to
Major General Fazlollah Zahedi, one of his
colleagues on the police force. So when
Schwartzkopf turned up in Teheran'in August
he could explain with a straight face that
he had come merely "to.see old friends again.'
The Russians stormed'and protested over his
presence in Iran but Schwartzkopf went his
casual way, dropping in to see the Shah one
afternoon, spending the morning with-General
Zahedi, and renewing contacts with other old
pals in the police and army.

Arid, suddenly the Shah seemed tQ havd

located his courage and authority. On
Thursday, August 13, the Shah handed down a
ukase that sounded as if it had been written
in collaboration by Schwartzkopf and Zahedi.
Mossadegh was ousted as.Premier and his
successor was to be General Zahedi. The
Shah ordered the colonel of the Imperial
Guards to serve the notice on Mossadegh, and
the wheels seemed to be turning.

But for some reason the colonel seemed
seized by inaction. It was not until two
days later, on midnight of August 15, that'
the colonel and a platoon of his troops
showed up at Mossadegh's residence. There
they found themselves surrounded by an array
of tanks and jeeps, manned by hard-faced
Army veterans Mossadegh had rounded up while
.the colonel vacillated.

The colonel, of course, was clapped into
jail and Mossadegh announced that a revolt
against the rightful government of Iran-had
been crushed. He also had some unkind things
to say about the youthful'Shah, and Iran's
king of kings and his queen took the hint
and hopped a plane for Rome by way of the
then royally safe country of Iraq.

:.C-5

--W~

i

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



C01384460
Approved for Release: 2014/02/26.

A

Schwartzkopf, however, held his own ground

on the Iranian stage. ne took over 'as unofficial-
paymaster for the Mossadegh-Must-Go clique.

Certain Iranians started*to get rich, and the
word later was that in a period of a few days

Schwartzkopf supervised the careful spending
of more than ten million of CIA's dollars.
Mossadegh suddenly lost a great many supporters.

The climax came on Wednesday, August 19,
four days after Mossadegh had "crushed the revolt."

The tense capital was filled with troops, mounted
against a new uprising, but none of them looked
very happy. There seemed no reason for alarm
when a long and winding procession of performers
appeared on the scene. for one of these impromtu..

parades common in Teheran. In the procession
were tumblers, weight-lifters, wrestlers, boxers

-- all performing their specialties as they moved

slowly along the 'streets. As usual, crowds
flocked out into the streets to watch the show
and to follow the parade.

Then, apparently, somebody gave.a signal.
The weird procession suddenly.broke into an
organized shouting mob. "Long Live the Shah!"
they cried. "Death to Mossadegh." The crowd
joined in the shouting, some of them undoubtedly
'keeping one hand tight against pockets where
their American wages were secured. Soon the
entire capital was in an uproar, and when the
din was at its loudest troops who had remained
loyal to the Shah launched their attack.

For more than nine hours the battle raged,
with Mossadegh's troops fighting fiercely but
gradually giving ground. Obviously, they were
confused by the tactics and swift logistical
maneuvers of the,Shah's forces, who had been
exposed to some American who knew the ropes.
Anyway, by midnight Mossddegh's soldiers had'.
been driven into a little ring around the
Premier's pa.lace'and they were forced to-.
surrender.. Troops forcing their way into the
palace captured Mossadegh -as he` lay weeping'..
in his bed,-'clad in silk striped pajamas'..
Somebody telephoned Rome and the Shah-and
his queen packed again, to return to Teheran

and install Zahedi as Premier.
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This.was a coup necessary to.the security
of the United States, and probably to that

of the Western World. But it•was another _

case of the United States not requiring tough
enough terms in return for its support. It

is senseless, as some observers have written,
to say that the Iranians overthrew Mossadegh
all by themselves. It was an American opera-

tion from beginning to end. But at the end,
CIA " and the American government -- stood
by while a succession of pro-Western and anti--
Communist administrations, uninterested in
the smallest social reforms, brought Iran
once again to the edge of bankruptcy. An._d._

of course, the American taxpayer has contributed
hundreds of millions of dollars to this
corruption.

Then, David Wise and Thomas B. Ross in their "explosive.

bestseller" The Invisible Government provided yet another

version, as follows:

1953: Iran
But guerrilla raids are small actions com-

pared to an operation that changes a government. .
There is no doubt at all that the CIA organized
and directed the 1953. coup that overthrew
Premier Mohammed Mossadegh and kept Shah
Mohammed Reza Pahlevi on his throne. But few
Americans know that the coup that toppled the
government of Iran was led by a CIA agent who
was the grandson of President Theodore Roosevelt.

Kermit "Kim" Roosevelt, also a seventh
cousin of President Franklin D. Roosevelt, is
still known as "Mr. Iran" around the CIA for
his spectacular operation in Teheran more than
a decade ago. He later left the CIA and joined
the Gulf Oil Corporation as "government relations"
director in its Washington office. Gulf named
his a vice-president in 1960.

One legend that grew up inside the CIA had,
it that Roosevelt,'in the grand-Rough Rider
tradition, led the revolt against the weeping
Mossadegh with a gun at the head of an Iranian
tank commander as the column rolled into Teheran.
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A CIA man familiar with the Iran story
characterized this as "a bit romantic" but said:
"Kim did run the operation from a basement in
Teheran -- not from our embassy." He added
admiringly: "It was a real James Bond operation."

General Fazollah Zahedi,t the man the CIA
chose to replace Mossadegh, was also a character
worthy of spy fiction. A six-foot-two, handsome
ladies' man, he fought the Bolsheviks, was
captured by the Kurds, and, in 1942, was kidnapped
by the British, who suspected him of Nazi intrigues.
During World War II the British and.the Russians
jointly occupied Iran. British agents, after
nCatcii iia~ ` ZLai~_. d_- , Claimed they fond the fallowing

items in his bedroom: a collection of German
automatic weapons, silk underwear, some opium,
letters from German parachutists operating in the
hills, and an illustrated register of Teheran's.
most exquisite prostitutes.

After the war Zahedi rapidly moved back-into
public life. He was Minister of Interior when
Mossadegh became Premier in 1951. Mossadegh
nationalized the British-owned Anglo-Iranian Oil
Company in April and seized the huge Abadan
refinery on the Persian Gulf.

The refinery was shut down; thousands of
workers were idled and Iran faced a financial
crisis. The British, with the backing of Western
governments, boycotted Iran's oil and the local
workers were unable to run the refineries at
capacity without British techniques.

Mossadegh connived with the Tudeh, Iran's
Communist party, and London and Washington feared
that the Russians would end up with Iran's vast
oil reserves flowing into'the-Soviet Union,
which shares a common border with Iran.
Mossadegh, running the-crisis from his bed --
he claimed he was a very sick man -- had
broken with Zahedi, who balked at tolerating
the Tudeh party.

* He died September-l,-1963, at age sixty-seven.

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



C01384460

1

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26

It was against this background that the CIA
and Kim Roosevelt moved in to oust Mossadegh and
install Zahedi. -At the time of the coup Roosevelt,
then thirty-seven, was already. a veteran intelli-
gence man. He was born in Buenos Aires. His
father, the President's second son, was also named
Kermit. Kim was graduated from Harvard just
before World liar II, and he taught history there
and later at the California Institute of Technology.
He had mafried while still at Harvard. He left
the academic life to serve in the OSS, then joined
the CIA after the war as a Middle East specialist.
His father had died in Alaska during the.war;-his
uncle, Brigadier General Theodore Roosevelt, died
on the beaches of Normandy a year later.

The British and American governments had
together decided to mount an operation to over-
throw Mossadegh. The.CIA's estimate was that"it
would succeed because the conditions were right;
in a showdown the people of Iran would_be loyal
to the Shah. The task of running the operation
went to Kim Roosevelt, then the CIA's top operator
in the Middle East.

Roosevelt entered Iran legally. He drove
across the border, reached Teheran, and then
dropped out of sight. He had to, since.he had
been in Iran before and his face was.known.
Shifting his headquarters several .times to
keep one step ahead of Mossadegh's agents,
Roosevelt operated outside of the protection
of the American Embassy. He did have the help
of about five Americans, including some of the
CIA men stationed in the embassy.

In addition, there were seven local agents,
including two top Iranian intelligence operatives.
These two men communicated with Roosevelt
through cutouts -- intermediaries and lie
never saw them during the entire operation.

As the plan for revolt was hatched, Brigadier
General H. Norman Schwarzkopf, who used to
appear on radio's "Bang Busters," turned up
in Teheran. He had reorganized the Shah's

o r. a% r-M
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police force-there in the 1940s. He was best

known for his investigation of the Lindbergh
baby kidnaping case when he headed the New
Jersey State Police in 1932. 'Schwarzkopf,
an old friend of Zahedi's, claimed he was in
town "just to see old friends again:" But
he was part of the operation.

On August 13 the Shah signed a decree
dismissing Mossadegh and naming Zahedi as
Premier. The uncooperative Mossadegh arrested
the unfortunate colonel who brought in his
notice of dismissal. Mobs rioted in the
streets; the thirty-three-year-old Shah and
his queen (at that time Ule heaut:iful Soiaya.)

fled to Baghdad by plane, from their palace on
the Caspian Sea.

For two chaotic days, Roosevelt lost com-
munication with his two chief Iranian agents.
Meanwhile; the Shah had made his way to Rome;
Allen Dulles flew there to confer with him.
Princess Ashraf, the Shah's attractive twin
sister, tried to play a part in the inter-
national intrigue, but the Shah refused to
talk to' her .

In Teheran, Communist mobs controlled the
streets; they destroyed statues of the Shah
to celebrate his departure. Suddenly, the
opposition to Mossadegh consolidated. The
Army began rounding up demonstrators. Early
on August 19 Roosevelt, from his hiding place.,
gave orders to his Iranian agents to get
everyone they could find into the streets.

The agents went into the athletic clubs
in Teheran and rounded up a strange assortment
'of weight-lifters, muscle-men and gymnasts.
The odd procession wde its way through the
bazaars shouting pro-Shah slogans.. The crowd
grew rapidly in size.: Sy mid--morning it.was
clear the tide had turned against Mossadegh
and nothing could stop it.

Zahedi came out of hiding and took over.
The Shah returned from exile. Mossadegh
went to jail and the leaders of. the Tudeh
were executed.
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In the aftermath, the British lost their
monopoly on Iran's oil. In August, 1958, an
international consortium of Western oil companies
signed a twenty-five-year pact with Iran for
its oil. Under it, the former Anglo-Iranian
Oil Company got 4'0 percent, a group of American
companies* got 40 percent, Royal Dutch''Shell
got 14. percent and the Compagnie Francaise
des Petroles 6 percent. Iran got half of the
multimillion-dollar income from the oil fields
under the deal, the Anglo-Iranian was assured
a compensation payment of $70,000,000. ..

The United States; of course; has never
officially admitted the`CIA's role. The
closest Dulles came to doing so was in a CBS
television show in 1962, after his retirement
from the CIA.10* He was asked whether it was'true
that "the CIA people spent literally millions
of dollars hiring people to riot in the streets
and do other things, to get rid of Mossadegh.
is there anything you can say about that?"

"Well," -Dulles replied, "I can say that the
.statement that we spent many dollars doing
that is utterly false."

The former CIA chief also hinted at the
CIA's Iran role in his book The Craft of
Intelligence. " ... support from-the outside
was given . to the Shah's supporters,"' j
he wrote, without directly saying;it came.
from the CIA.

Magazines did their part 'as well. In' The 'Saturd'ay

Evening Post for 6 November 1954, Richard and Gladys

Harkness co-authored an article entitled "The-Mysterious

Doings of CIA," which appears to have been a key source

Co:r both Tully and Wise---Ross. Richard and Gladys said:

.* Gulf Oil, Standard Oil of New Jersey and California,
The Texas Company and Socony-Mobile.

fi
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Another CIA-influenced triumph was the successful
overthrow of Iran in the summer of 1953, of old,
dictatorial Premier Mohammad Mossadegh and the
return to power of.this country's friend'.Shah
Mohammad Riza Pahlevi.

On May 28, 1953, President Eisenhower re-
ceived a letter from Mossadegh amounting to a
bare faced attempt at international blackmail. ...

The White House stalled Mossadegh for one
month; then turned down the crafty premier with
a blunt no. This was a calculated risk at best..
It was a daring gamble, in fact, that Mossadegh
would not reii-tain in power to carry out "his tiireat.
It was, as well, a situation which-required a
little doing. The doing began in short order
through a chain of stranger-than-fiction circum-
stances involving [Allen] Dulles, a diplomat,
a princess and a'policeman.

On August tenth Dulles packed his bags and
flew to Europe to join his wife-for a vacation
in the Swiss Alps. The political situation in
Teheran was becoming more conspiratorial by the
hour. Mossadegh was consorting with a Russian
diplomatic-economic mission. Loy Henderson,
United States Ambassador'to Iran, felt he could
leave his post for a short "holiday" in Switzer=
land. Princess Ashraf, the attractive and strong-
willed brunette twin sister of the Shah,, chase
the same week to fly to a Swiss alpine resort.
It was reported that she had had a stormy session
with her brother in his pink marble palace,
because of his vacillating in facing up to
Mossadegh.

The;fourth of the assorted characters in this
drama, Brig. Gen. H. Norman Schwartzkopf,-at
this time took a flying vacation-across the
Middle East. His itinerary included apparently
aimless and leisurely stops in Pakistan, Syria,
Lebanon -- and Iran. Schwartzkopf is best
known to the public„ as the man who conducted
the Lindberg kidnapping investigation.in 1932;
when he was head of the New Jersey state police.
But from 1942 through 1948 he was detailed to
Iran to reorganize the Shah's national police

I
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force. Schwartzkopf's.job in Iran was more
than the tracking down of routine criminals.
He protected the-government against its enemies

-- an assignment requiring intelligence on the
political cliques plotting against the Shah,
knowledge of which army elements could be
counted on to remain loyal and familiarity with
Middle East psychology. Schwartzkopf became
friend and advisor to such individuals as
Maj. Gen. Fazlollah Zahedi, his colleague on
the.pozice force, and the Shah himself.

Schwartzkopf returned to "Iran in August of
1953, he said, "just to see old friends again."
Certainly the general will deny any connection
with the events that followed his.renewal of
acquaintanceships with the Shah and Zahedi.
But as Mossadegh and the Russian propaganda
press railed nervously at Schwartzkopf's
presence in Iran, developments started to unfold
in one-two-three order.

On Thursday, August thirteenth, the Shah .
suddenly issued a double-edged ukase: Mossadegh
was ousted by royal decree and'his successor
as premier was to be General Zahedi. The Shah
ordered the colonel of the Imperial•Guards to
serve the notice on Mossadegh. Two days later,
at midnight of Saturday, August fifteenth, the
colonel went to Mossadegh's residence.to find
himself and his platoon surrounded,by tanks and
jeeps. The colonel w"as clapped-in jail, and
Mossadegh proclaimed that the revolt had been
crushed. The Shah and his queen,.taking events
at face value fled to Rome by way of Iraq.

On Wednesday, August nineteenth, with the army
standing close guard around the uneasy capital,.
a grotesque procession.made its way along the
stree•a leading to the heart of Teheran. There
were tumblers turning handsprings, weight lifters
twirling iron bars and wrestlers flexing their
biceps. As spectators grew in number, the bizarre'
assortment of performers began shouting pro-Shah
slogans in unison. The crowd took up the chant
and then, after one precarious moment, the
balance of public psychology swung against Mossadegh:,

C 
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Upon signal, it seemed, army forces on the

Shah's side began an attack. The fighting lasted

a bitter nine hours. Hy nightfall, following
American-style military strategy and logistics,
loyalist troops drove Mossadegh's elements into
a tight cordon around the premier's palace: They
surrendered, and Mossadegh was captured as he -
lay weeping in his bed, clad in striped silk
pajamas. In Rome a bewildered young Shah prepared
to fly home and install Zahedi as premier and to
give Iran a pro-Western regime.

Thus it was that the strategic little nation
of Iran was rescued from'the closing clutch of
Moscow. Equally important, the physical over-
throw of Mossadegh was accomplished by the Iranians
themselves. It is the guiding premise of CIA's
third force that one must develop and nurture
indigenous freedom legions among captive-or
threatened people who-stand ready to take personal.
risks for their own-liberty.45

More than a year later, Crosby Noyes, writing in the

Washington Star for 27 September 1953, discussed obliquely

the significance of Ambassador Henderson., CIA Director Dulles,

and Princess Ashraf being in Zurich the same week in August,

and mentioned General Schwarzkopf's visit in detail. Without

making any direct accusations, he hinted: "It is possible

that the CIA agents whose departure from.Iran was observed

and reported were on purely routine intelligence missions.

It is possible -- as a leading columnist has suggested --

that Mr. Henderson's trap to Switzerland was no more than

a 'policy of studied indifference' on the part of the State

45 
Richard and Gladys Harkness, "The Mysterious Doings of

CIA." The Saturday Evening Post, November 6, 1954, pp. .66-68.
Reprinted by special permission of The Saturday Evening Post.

1954 The Curtis Publishing Company.
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Department toward the Mossadegh regime. A friend of the

Princess Ashraf here in Washington holds stoutly to the

view that her visit with the Shah was undertaken simply to

ask him for money. It is possible that Allen Dulles is

genuinely fond of mountain-climbing and that Gen. Schwarzkopf

just happened to show up in Teheran at a critical moment.

"It is all perfect l-y possible. nut as 'Long as the

practice of putting two and two together continues, the

argument about what really happened in Iran last summer

seems likely to continue."

;
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a. Presentation to the Shah

(2) Major issue is to maintain indepen-

dence Iran. and keep from the Soviet

orbit. To do this Mossadeq must be

removed.

(3) Present dynasty best bulwark xiational

sovereignty.

(4) While Mossadeq in power no aid for

Iran from United States.

(5) Mossa.de_q must go.

(6) 1 I financial aid Will* be f ortli--

coming to.successor.government.

(7) Acceptable 6il settlement will be

offered, but successor government

will not be rushed into it.'

b. Demands on the Shah

(1) You must take leadership in over-

throw Mossadeq.

(2) ?lf not, you bear responsibility for

collapse of country.

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26



C01384460

i
a

Approved for Release: 2014/02/26

A. After agreement with Shah per above, inform

Zahedi he chosen to head successor government.

with US-UK support.

B. Agree on specific plan for action and timetable

for action. There are t%vo ways to put Zahedi in

office.

1. Quasi-legally, whereby the Shah-names Zahedi

Prime Minister by royal firman.

2.* Military coup.

Quasi-legal method to be tried first. If success=

ful at least part bf machinery for military coup-

will be brought into action. if it fails, mili=-

tary.coup will follow in matter of hours.

D- 3
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B. Would be widely publicized that this refuge.move-

ment on basis two grounds popular dissatisfac-

tion with Ajossadeq government as follows:

1. Ground one that Mossadeq, government basically

anti-religious as most clearly demonstrated

ties between Mossadeq q-and Tudeh;-and Mossadeq

and USSR.

2. Ground two that Mossadeq is leading the

country into complete economic collapse

through his unsympathetic dictatorship.

p_ 7
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c. Religious refuge to take place at the dawn of

the coup day. .Immediately followed by effort

have Majlis'pass a motion to censure the

government. This is to be followed by the dis-

missal of Mossadeq and the appointment of Zahedi

as successor. If successful, the coup would be

completed by early afternoon. 'Failing success,

the coup w ou ld be inounted later that evening-

0-8
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i'he following is a U. S. Embassy translation of the Court of Revision

vordict acj6inst :losadeq and Riahi, handed down on 12 day 1954. It _
ravie:•-s the case, sums up the cha'r;}2s against the tyro defcndmits, and
examinrs their respective defense. It objects-to and overrules the

verdict of the Ailitary Court of First Instance and concluu.:s by
resentencing the defendants.

Under the indictment issued by the Army Prosecutor, the accused

were charged :vi th the Following:

In conn:.ction with Dr. Mohaaxnad Aosadeq--

1. order For the arrest of Col. Nernatollah 14asiri (now brigadier
general), Commander of the Royal Guards, who carried the order
for the dismissal of 1•losat:eq;
i. Unlaw fu l err iat o f of ficial and nono fficial p arsons;

3. Disarming of the Royal CuUrds protecting HIM the Shan and
the royal palaces;
4. Sealing of the royal palaces, dispossessing the officials
and guard of the Royal Court from the properties and palaces
of the Shah;
5. Issue of telegrams to the.Iranian ?'enbassauors abroad 

. 
.

instructing them not to contact HIrl.the Shah;
6. Issue of instructions for omission of the Shah's-name from
the morning and evening prayers in Via military centers;
7. Issue of instructions for the holding of snc:tin;s by taking
advantage of government propaganda facilities with a view to
insulting the monarch and the constitutional regime, and broad-
casting the meetings by radio;
9. Issue of instructions for pulling down and breaking the
statues of the late Shah and the present Shah with a view to
humiliating the royal household and encouraging insurgents to
rise against the constitutional monarchy in Iran;
9. Issue of instructions for the dissolution of tile ,111ajlis;
10. Issue of instructions for keeping under surveillance the
members of the royal housahold in Azerbaijan;
11. Issue of instructions for the unlawful arrest of General
Zahedi, the Prime 14inister appointee by the'Shah, and the
offer of a reward to the person capturing him;

•12. Elimination of the royal anthem from the projram of
Tehran Radio; and
13. Action for the formation of.a regency council by
referendum.

In connection with Brig. Gen. Taqi Riahi:

1. Arrest of Col. Nematol lah Nasi ri (now 'vri.gadi(:r general-)
who was carrying the order for Dr. Mosadaq's dismissal, and
other officers without any legal warrant;
2. Disarming of the Royal Guards;

F-1
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3. Issue of instructions for the oinission of the Shah'.s name
from the :Horning and evening prayers of the soldiers; and
4. Issuer of instructions that the dernonstratinns of the
Tudch Party should not be checked and insurgents should
not be prevented from making demonstrations against NIA the
Shah and that those people pulling down the statues of the
late Shah and those of the pres~.nt Shah should 'not 'be checked.

By virtue of Article 317 of the Army Judicial and Penal Law,.capital

punishm_-nt was demanded for the above-named. The case was reforred to the

CoUet of First-instance., which Court after performing the legal formalities

and inv:!sti gating. the case, affirmed that Dr. Mosadeq's'offunces corres-

1 ~ . .. Army I. r?; ~ ,r,d Pf•n 
i;.al . / th. :r tic E 1 ~J Of ..~t, .•~, c ia1 _ al Law With dueFSryriijc%u r

regard to'Articie it 13of_the Army Judicial and Penal Law, Article 44 of

the Criminal Code, and Article 46 of the same Law, since the accused is

over 60 years of age, he was condemned to. three .years' of *sol i tary imfri_son-

~m.nt; General Riahi's offence was found to conform with paragraph (b) of

article 330 of the Army Judicial and Penal Laii.and he was condemned to two

years of corractionat imprisonment and permanent dismissal from the :army

(according to Article 290 of the Army Judicial and Penal Law).

Aftur thy: communication of tine verdict issued, the Ailitary Prose- .

tutor and the accused appealed for &-revision according to Articles 217

and 21£3 of the Army Judicial and Penal Law and Article 219 of the sane

Law. The casa was r•_ferred to this Court according to File tio.109, -on

Decam'*ar 26, 1953.

The Court of Revision was formed on April 3 after pass through the

necessary forinalitiet, and listened in nine sessions to the explanations

of the Prosecutor* and the objections of the accused and their defense

counsels about the defects of the file and the inco.mpctence of the Court.

F-2
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On April 22, 1951 +, the original meml ers of the Court L•.; a majori.ty vote

of six to one c:id not find the obj actions of th•z accused and their

derensc couns.:ls al.out the defects of the file and incorlpae ntcnce of the

Court plausible, and declared their preparedness to investigate the

substance of the accusations levelled against I:oth of the'accusvd. The

Court of Revision, in 17 sessions held from April 23 to :lay 1.2, 'listened

to the objections of the Prosecutor,"the accused, and their defense

counsals in respect to the verdict issued by the Court of First Instance,

and to the last defences of the above-nauf::d. 1 t: i 2z 2v p.m,-- ors may 12.,

1954, it declared that the matter had been sufficiently debated and"

announced an adjournment of the trial. The Court irric-diately started

its deliberations, .and with due retard to the substance' of'Artidle 209.-

of the Army Judicial and Penal Law completed the deliberations at 3:30 p.m.

on May 12, 1951+, and issued the following verdict:

Court's Verdict

A. The main objections of the Prosecutor and the accused to 'the .

verdict issued '!)y the Court of First Instance are as 'tinder:.

Summary of the olijections of the Army Prosecutor 'to fhe, `
verdict issued by the Court of First Instanca-in regard
to Dr. daha;in-naJ Mosadeq.

1. HIM's statements to the effect_that'he waived his claim's
for the injustices rendered to him' Sy- the. accused 'have' been
interpreted by the Court of 'F~i rst .Instance as the pardoning
by HIM of his personal claims; while 'in .fact a personal':right
has a special interpreta.ti h from the .judicial `viewp6int. The
Court's interpretation *.is not`proper, .Lecause'11IM`the- Shah 'had .
not lodged a personal claim against DY. iiosadaq 

.5~. 
'that'he could

Withdraw his t1'airn. in due course.

2. Since the Court of ri r'st Instance has rule") that the crimes
attributed to Dr. ,1oha-YnaJ ,iosa;;•aq.correspond-.wi th Article 317
of the army Jurici a1 and Penal .Ldw and has i ssudi] i-As verdict
with due regard to ilrtitle 4 of t` c;'Cri'~,1i'nUl Code,' and :since
the al;ove-named's. cria1e i:s 1:nrne out :;y the ci rcumstances
mentioned in the 'a:.ove, ;3r: Aohami7ad Ao'sv:;eq..app'ran'ly-s1hould
nave ueen concernn::o to ran .years' solitary corit.pe a°n

,1r
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3. Another mistake made Ly the` Court is that reference has

been pare in the verdict to Article 44 ofthe Criminal Co,e,

while this P,rticle rcfci's to .a .iitiq-,tion of the original
punishment, and Dr. ;1oha a:,a.3 11.esa;',aq has 'be-c-n condeamed to

tlire : yaarsl solitary confine:,=.:.-:a.t. T;Iese two facts are

contradictory.

4. •rhe Court of First Irnstanc,: has not stated in the verdict

whether the verdict was issued by a unanimous or majority vote.

sua)%idry of the objections roise:d by the Army Prosecutor against

the Court's verdict in co.l.nection -with General Riahi.

1. The Court has not observed Articles 202 and 217 of. the Array
Judicial and Penal Law (the Court's verdict roust be substantiated

and borne out by facts in connection with the crimes attributed

to the accused a nd their con ormn-i ry wi th . the relevant regula-

tions)., Moreover the subordinate punishment (dismissal from
Army service) which inust naver be rentioned in the verdict has
been mentioned contrary to Article 298 'of the army Judicial
and Penal Law.

2. The Court's reasoning in regard to the deInn-ses put up by

the defense counsels of the accused suprorts the bill of ' -
indicti-aent and the Prosecutor's statements made iri the Court.
The Court has considered the roneral's actions as-hostile and
as having been carried out with ill-will and for the purpose
of overthrowing the mgnarchy. However, tshe punishment decreed
has been made to conform with Article 330 of'the Judicial'La:4, i.e.,
the negligence of duty vis-a-vis the orders of the.Army.

3. The Court has considered General Riahi responsible for the

actions attributed to Kira and fi:as affirmed the bill of indictment;
but has made an oversight it fitting the crime to the relevant.
article of the Lacer. For the Court has in its verdict made clear

that the issue of the instructions for the omission of the Shah's
naive from the morning and evening prayers, and the failure to
check the pulling down of the statues and the explicit announce-
ment that the-3hah was a fugitive ware meant to overthrow the

monprchy. Thereford the crime contaitted by the above-named c'or,=
,`owns with Article 317 of the Army Judicial and Penal Law.

Summary of the Objections Rai sed- by General Ri ahi and his
Defense Counsel to the Verdict issued by the Court of-First instance:

1. With regard to Article 330 of the Army Judicial and Penal
Law, General Ri ahi was not neyl ecting his military duties while
executing the orders of his sup;;ri-ors,.so that the'Court of First
Instance should not have condl.-ned Mi-a according to Paragraph .(b).

of Article 330 of the Army.Judicial and Penal Law.

F-4
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2. The Court has, by setting forth its reasons, considered
that the Article referred to by the Prosecutor did not corres-
pond with the accusations 1;:velled against General Fiahi ;end
the Court exonerated the reused of the charges -levelled against
him. Therefore, there were no grounds for the army Prosecutor
to request that the same accusations be again levelled against'
the accused.

3. During Aujust IA-131 Dr. r4ohammad Mosadeq held a legal and
official title as far as all army officers were concerned and
no one was aware of the command dismissing hire; hence the
legalization of M osadeq's orders. Moreover, ever since HIM
the Shah ordained that General Riahi, the then Chief of General
Staff, should receive his orders directly from the then Ainis-
ter of National' Defense, the Minister was the only lawful
commander of General Riahi.

4. In connection with the oraission of the'Shah's name from the
morning and evening prayers to which the Court has alluded, this
had nothing. to do with the direct wiI of General Riahi, hence
the fkrticle regarding the cancellation of an instruction could
not apply to him.. The Commander of the Officers' College.asked
for instructions in this connection in order that probable
incidents might be averted, and the then Chief of-General Staff
reported 'the matter to the Minister of National Defense and
co+nmunicated the order issued by the Minister..

The Summary of the Objections of Dr. Mohammad iiosadeq and his
Lawyer to the Verdict of the Court of First Instance:

1. Concerning the arrest of Col. Nematollah llasiri (presently
a brigadier general), if I meant to conceal the disposal order,
I would not have given a receipt for it. This order 'could not,
possibly have remained a secret even though Colonel Hasiri was
arrested. His followers and some other no doubt knew of it.
fie was detained because he had come to my house at 1:00 a.m.
to arrest me and complete his coup d'etat. When he understood
that the guards of my house were increased,, he only -submitted
the order of His Majesty.

2. The Court of First Instance said that I issued a notice.
about an imaginary =2 d'etat in order to call the '`oyal Guards
aggressors and to provoke the followers of'tiis Majesty, and that
I detained the faithful servants of the monarch so that people
might be incited against this regime. I did not issue any order
to ar;rest'the followers of the monarchy. The police forces were
responsible for.all the actions which took place. The duty of
the Royal Guards is to protect His 1laj,~sty and the royal palaces.

..It cannot arrest ministers or Majlis deputies.

SE
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3. The Court of First Instance said that I ordered the.
I:o,yal Guards to be disarmed so that w1hen His Majesty returned
he would have no one to protect him and hence the mobs
could have freedom of action. My.purpose teas to prevent
another coup d!etat.

1F. You said that I sealed the royal palaces in order to
deprive His Majesty of his own properties.. Because His
Majesty left the country without any previous notice, my
action was simply to protect the royal properties.

5. The Court of First Instance rnpntioned thL fact that tele.-
grams were sent to the Enilassies of Iran in foreign countries,
forbidding the members to meet His liajesty. I have no know-
ledge of.such telegrams and if Fatemi should say thatI told
him to so so, I shall bear any punishment set by law.

6. The Court of First Instance also said that I ordered the
onission of the name of. His Majesty from the morning and
evening prayers of the soldiers. It was thought that His
Majesty did not wish to have his name pridr to that of Iran,
so the order :vas given to the soldiers to pray only for the
perpet.ui ty of Iran. r.fter all, if' the soldiers pray for •;the
perpetuity of Iran, this'does not mean that treachery was
mesit to his Majesty.

7. The Court of rirst Instance said that :iosadeq and his
friends meant to insult His Majesty by allowing the people to
demonstrate and take part in meetings. :Atenever.,the repre-
sentatives of tha guilds or the :rational C is] parties asked to .
be' al lolled to demonstrate, they were gi ven the right to do 'so
provided that the leftwing parties were not permitted to take
part, to talk, or to demonstrate. The meeting of that day had
no other basis. If the speakers said things and did wrong,. if
was not my fault and I should not be blam_-d for their.-actions.

3. The Court of First Instance believed.the destruction of the
statues of His Majesty and his father was to excite the people
against His IMajesty and his .powers. -1 know nothing of the
destruction of the statues. In the first place, installation
of the statues seas against the Shariat. I wos told on Itujust 17.
th.t the leftwing parties intended to destroy the statues of
Reza Shah. If they would have done so, 'the Government would have
been accused of having cooperated with them.' To .prevent this,
the I+ationalcist] parties and guilds did so and their actions
:•rere tak::n only on the basis of opinion an;' not to excite the
people against the monarchical regime.

9• About dissolving the Majlis, the Court of First Instance
said: "The procla:aatinn of the accused to jissolve the 11ajl'is
had no precedence in the parliamentary history of Iran and
indicates that he want to Out an end to the parliamentary regime
and to the fundamentals of t,le government of this country." First

F-6
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I must say that if an act which has not been done before and is
not written in the laws is carried out, one cannot say that it
is a crime. Secondly, our Constitution is '.used upon govern-
ment of the people and by the people- so a referendum which is
also based on the sane principles i's completely logical end
legal. Thirdly, referendum is a good tool in the bonds of
governments by which they can rely upon the people. For these
reasons, a referendum was for the benefit of the.country .end
democracy.

10. About the arrest of the royal family in Azarbai jan I must
.-.say that I know nothing and the police. have done their duty.

11. The Court of First Instance referred to the order for the
imprison.acnt of General Zah•di, the elected Prima ;Iinister:
Nz leas appointed after I was d ismissed -anti bepalise m y Savern-

ment could not arrest him, no crime has taken place that'I
:%may' be punished fora.

12." The Court of First Instance thought that the omission o.f
the Notional Anthain from Radio Tehran was against the.;customs
of the country. I did not give an order for the omission-.of...
the NationalA nthem, but I personally' 'belj eve that some authori-
ti:!s could cause trouble for those persons who go-to piacts
for fun and hear the Anthem but might not honor it as they
should. I am sure you do not want the people to be hotherod
by every possible ,m--thod.

13. The Court referred to the formation of the Ragancy Council
through a raferendum. This action of :nine is the test cluo to
show that my deeds did not follow the contents of /;rti c1 ` 317
of the Army Judicial and. Penal Law. 'If my deeds ware according
to the three subj~-cts;of that article, I did not have to fora a
Ragency C-uncil through a raferenduti. I intended to send some "
rcprescntartives to Rome so that they might beg His r1ajesty to
return or to appoint the Regancy Council in case His. Majesty did
not wish to return. If His Majesty would not appoint the Regency
Council, there was no iiajiis and the Government had no right to
do so either. The •on 1 y possible solution eras t,trough a referan-!
dum,- which in turn is neither against the l avis nor the banefi is
of tie country.

8. Considaririg the objtictions in the appeals of the Army Prosecutor,
Dr. Mohammad flosadeq (accused No. 1), Gen. Tani Riahi (accused' No. *2)
and their 1 aviyers, which seamed to be acc::ptabl e, for the following
reasons tha verdict of the Court of First Instance is invalid:

In the case of Dr. Mohammad Mosadeq:

First, as the Army Prosecutor object, the Court of First In!ttance
thought that the communic;tion of the Royal hurt me.snt that His
tia jesty ovcrl poked his personal rights. This is not so because
His Majesty's position is so high that it :fines not allow hint to
.`..sco.ne a pri vat- I ' tiff. Aoreov-r, 'the offense was not a
personal one so i . ended party would ov :ri ook his ri chts.
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In ad.:itinn to thet, according to Article 55 of the Criminal
Code, pardon can only be given wrhztn the crime has ;:•e_n estab-
l i shed. For theca .reasons, the: W,3L cnee' of the Court to the
a':.ovc: co-n;unicution is invalid.

Secondly, considering the nature of the accus.:tion and 'the _•
reasoning used by the Court of first Instance wh_,rcby it com-
p,::rrd the puni sha_nt to that of Article 317 of the Army Judicial
and Penal Lau, :,nd obs_rving f.rticlc 46 of the Criminal. Coc'e.,
the puni shindnt fixed for him eras sol i t:.ry conf i nem_nt. .Because
the-said Iirti cl a has fi xeuJ the maximum and minimum penalties of
solitary confin-ament, without taking tiro mitigating circu:nstanees
iato ceinsir:eration, the pzriod of solitary eonfi.rieratnt could be
fixed without any troubles. Although the Court tried to reduce
the sentence and rtferred to Article 46 of the Criminal Code,
the eff-zct of this article is not notict:d iri the fixing of
rhC pu nishrnaflt.

In the.casc of G:ncral Riahi:

According to Article 758 of the Constitution and Articles 202
and 217 o` the Army Judicial and Penal Lary, the verdict of the
Court had to be reasonable and the Court had to pay careful'
attention to the accusations. Not only is the verdict of the
Court bout ;en. Taqi Riahi unreasonable, !gut also his deeds
do not correspond to section 6 of Article 33 of the Army Judicial
and Penal Law (this Arti cl a concerns the fai l ur•s of cornnianders
to fulfill their military clutics in sp,:cial circumstances). On.
the other band, the Court %f 'First Ins•tu'hce 'rc,~soned thit the
actions of Or. Aosadeq (accused No. 1) correspoti'dad to article
317 of thm Army Judic.i of anJ Penal Law.. Tile Court 'also rLl ated
all the accusations against General .Ri ani ' (accused No. 2) to
some of the deeds of ]r. Mosadaq, •,lirectly and indirectly.
Therefore, the verdict eras given on the basis of the unity of
their crimes, although considering their confessions, one-can
sce that the crimes were not the s=rne for both of than. For
this reason the verdict of tilt: Court of First Instance is not
correct.

For t,ia ~bov_Irvssons, the verdict of the Court of First Instance is-.,
ctincclled in accorddnec with Article 23"), of the Army Judicial wild
?cnsl Law and the verdict of thi-s Court is now announced for Gr.
Mosa-30c, (six votes to one) and General Riahi (five votes to two):

For Dr. riosadeq:

lie confessed to sane of his crimes and by means of falizicious
&nd confusing argurnents lac tried to escape the punis`r;iont For
the rest. Considering his file and the testimony of witn.!sscs
in the Court, his cSef L-nse: raid not influence the verdict of tilt
Court, and none of it had any judicial. value. dis ibnorance
of snore of the events (such is the telegrams to Iranian ambassa-
ors ordarin; them not to meet His Majesty, `orm:~tion of mce:tings

through overnmental faci~lli..~t,ics, tilt specch at the m=eti'n- of
.wu;ust l j, 1.963 b 

~ 
Fatemi., 'who ;Jas re jardcd by,the
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A-ccuscd as his Forzign Mli,list.:r, the e-,struztion of the
sti,tu•~!s of His Majesty and those of R-aza Sham, :nd tide arrest
of the royal family) does riot stain acce-ptable because he was
Prime hiinistcr, though ill:gally, and accor::ing to .trticla
61 of the Constitution, a Prime Ministcr is r,!sponsible for
all events.
In se:~,na p] aces he has shown good wi l l such ~,s concerning the _
for.nation of a Rcgcncy Council through 'a rcFcrcndwim about 14hich
he frankly said, "fly intentions :•:crc to-send so,na rc1;rescntatives
to Rome in order to beg His A,a jesty to return and if His ,•la jesty
did not wish to do so, to hag-.hire to appoint the Re..ency Council..
In case -Nis f-1a j !sty did not agree to ci ther of those two raquasts,
the Regency Council was to be.appointad by a referendumThe
Prosecutor of this Court believes that his s taterient is neither
1•c3al nor logical; therefore he does not-accept it. If'MosaBeq
wire right, he would have sent the representatives to Rome during
the four days of his i 1 legal regime. /Although he had all poss-
ible ,neans of transportation and so on in his hands, he did not
do so. No action was taken for the a: )pointmt%'nt of repr san•tativcs
to be sent to Roane. Nis good will did not even induct him to
.sand wires directly or indirectly (through the Embassies of Ir6n
in Baghdad and Rome) to Nis t•tajesty al thougli he cou.1 d havz crone
so. On the contrary, the teligr.ms sent to the I-rani .an arhb'sssa-
dors in Foreign countries show and prove that he did not •intcnd
to show goodwill in this cast. `

Likewis•_ in connection with ti,z omission of tine Snub's naive from
the morning end evening pryers in military canters, his state-
ments are contradictory to those rn•ide 'by ;--incral Riahi -because
the accused h.-;,S stated: "Since it was assumed that H1.3 the Shah
did not -wish his name to precede that of Iran, it teas ordered
that the soldiers should pray for the country, in order that
HIM t.ie Shan might rcip in an indepandLnt and free country;
the morning and evening pray•:rs of the sol.ciars for the continued-
uxist-cnct of Iran does not incicate any trc,:son agjinst H IM tite
Shah."

G;:ncral Ri'ahi has ai 1 egad that on the proposal of the I-oinnanc:ar
of the Military CollcJc in order to prevent.undesi.rable events
the prayer in question was changed faith the advica of Cr. Mosa-
r:;:q; 'io- raver, thl• s.ai d accused (Dr. 1-los.adeq.) has not L•can u:,1 C
to proves his ;;ood will in of teri ng tNa morning ..and evening
prayers or in omittino HIM the Shah's na.ae frorn the proytrs,
and has riot shown tjhy Zia did not take th s action Lci ore
receiving his di s,-irri ssal ort-lcr, or how it h :p p nad th-t these
events trhici~ ware acuainst th_ monarchy occurr•_c: aft::r the
issue of the dismissal order and his r: f~usal to oocy it'.
Tn refore, in short, the activitiws of the from
."u;ust 16 at 1:00 a-m. until August 19, singly •,nc collaetivcli9
clearly full under +4+rtiel:: 317 of th:e ,,Lr,ny Ju-•1icial and Penal
Low. Consi :;cring the. fact hjt thy: -•,r:,ry Prosecutor' applied for
a r•_vi si on of the verdict i ssuav by the Court of First Inst:.nc2;
i -! a' ove_nU,nad is, 1;y virtue of.article 317 of - th- :'rny Judicial
.end ?,nil Lae:, cow:;;: tna:' to three yz-ars of sol i t.ry i•ar.ri so i-
mznit, consiecring the fact that his « e is ov,:r sixty y,!ars.
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fhe t ri o,_ of h is u.".Lzntion since AuWust 15, 1953, ~i1:15t iC

C.--ducted from the period of his iopi-isonmz;nt.

nor Gcnzral Riahi:

In rill th,- actions cnri,iittcd by 'hio, :,crn:r:il i.ia.hi's 'A'i'm wus
:acrely to faci 1 i tate the ochi.avcmecnt of the Ni:-,is of tine
a ccusad No. 1 (Dr. :tosac'c•q). :hiI having full knowtcLige
of the aims and objcctivns of thc'ai:ovz nu:n=d, he has
col iue-,:_; wi th accused iio. 1 to :o:sl:en t ht sensa of roys} ty,°
slicks the position of the monarchy, clzminatt tile monu:ntnts

_ti•;hicb.indicated the =xistcnce of the monarchy, =ncourajc the
advers-Ties of t:•i- monarchy and tire army, and prosecute those
w;lose hearts acre kindl td with the fire For tha- love of the
king and the monarchy. The issue of the instruction for the
al t`rz,tion of the morning and evening prayers by- omi tting the
Shah's name from tic prayer, the dispatch of teleji-ams to the
6th APony Division of Fars and the 1-ti l i tary • Govc rnor of Abadan
to,thc effect that the Shah was a fugitive, the fact that lie
did not prevent the pulling do-.-in of the statues,'and the
instruction for shooting on Aujust 19 at individuals who iaani-
fest; d their royal f:alings are, in the opinion of the jury,
sufficient proofs to corroborate his.collsboration and complicity
with accused No. 1, Dr. Mohammad llosadecie

Thcrefor~-, the above-nam::u was an accomplice of Jr. hohamiad
Mos3ueq, and by virtu,: of Article 317 of tiie Army Judicial and
Penal Low and t',rti-clcs 23 :end 29 of the Criminal Code, and
Article '70 of the said Law, he is condtmncd to threw years
imprisonment with herd labor. Tine p=rind of his datenti-on
since Au-Just 10, will be deducted from his term of imprisonment.

An ai;p,:al may be inade to Cie Supreme Court against the a:,ove v•_rdict
Within tan days of its d•_cl ration, with J;ue regard to the circumstunces
mzntiones' in article 2'.3 of the army Judicial and Penal! Law.

Presie',nt of the Court of Revision for Vic Events of
A ugust 15 to 19, 15$3......... ......Genera3l Java di

Si 3raature of the Jury: ;cnzral Isa Nedayat
Ebrahi~-ii u31 i '
Gancral Kasrol 1 ah Kh.oshn:rii san
renerul Ahmad xjudani (substi.tute)
Ganeral Esatollah Zarqaini (assistant)
Lt.Col. sAl ahyari, ;voy Prosecutor -

A."ay 12, 1954 (3:3o p.m.)
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